IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 9 1991

I. H'

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

RANDALL SCOTT JONES,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

VS .

CASE NUMBER: 78,160

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: 87-1695-CF-M

HONORABLE ROBERT R. PERRY, CIRCUIT JUDGE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

Respectfully submitted,

LAW OFFICES OF GILBERT A. SCHAFFNIT

TILBERT A. SCHAFFNIT, ESQUIRE Northeast First Street Post Office Box 1252 Gainesville, Florida 32602 (904)378-6593/(904)374-4998 (FAX) Florida Bar Number: 249769

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT JONES

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant/Cross-Appellee, RANDALL SCOTT JONES, was the Defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either the "Appellant" or by surname. Appellee/Cross-Appellant, the State of Florida, was the Plaintiff in the trial court, and will be referred to as either the "Appellee" or as the State.

The Record on Appeal filed in this Court from the resentencing proceeding consists of seven (7) volumes and one thousand thirtysix (1,036) pages. References to the Record shall be made by use of the symbol (R. \_\_\_\_), followed by the volume and page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

This cause represents a **direct** appeal by Appellant from the Judgment **and** Sentence of Death imposed by the trial Court (R. 11, 252-266) pursuant to a resentencing hearing held under the mandate of this Court in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990). This Court's jurisdiction is mandatory. Art. V, §3(b)(1), <u>Fla. Const.</u>

In Jones, supra., this Court affirmed Appellant's two (2) convictions for first-degree murder as well as his convictions for armed robbery, burglary of a conveyance and shooting into an occupied vehicle, but reversed the sexual battery conviction and vacated the two (2) sentences of death remanding the cause for **a** new sentencing hearing before **a** different jury. **Id.** at **1241.** 

On November 21, 1990, the Honorable Robert R. Perry, Circuit Judge, entered an Order pursuant to receipt of this Court's mandate scheduliny a new evidentiary sentencing hearing (R. I, 1), and subsequently rescheduling same for March 11, 1991 (R. I, 107).

Prior to said resentencing hearing, Appellant filed his Motion to Dismiss (sic) Counsel (R. I, 11-23), urging **the** trial Court to "dismiss" his court-appointed attorney and appoint "private counsel" (R. I, 11). As one of **his** points on appeal from his original trial and sentencing proceeding, Appellant had urged **as** error the denial of the same defense counsel's Motion to Withdraw from the penalty phase proceeding. <u>Jones</u>, at **1240**. However, this **Court** found it unnecessary to address this claim in view of its disposition of other issues. <u>Id</u>.

Defense counsel, upon resentencing, likewise again sought leave to withdraw (R. I, 25-26). Upon hearing (R. I, 147-163),

both motions were denied (R. I, 29-30). On March 11, 1991, the day of the commencement of the resentencing hearing, Appellant filed a renewed Motion to Dismiss (sic) Counsel realleging factual matters raised in his previous motion, alleging new factual grounds for his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and requesting dismissal of court-appointed counsel as well as other substantive relief including dismissal of the charges or, in the alternative, a retrial as to the guilt phase (R. I, 165-174). The Motion was denied through issuance of a Clerk's docketing sheet, with no factual findings therein (R. I, 179).

On February 25, 1991, Appellant filed his Second Motion to Suppress Statements, Confessions or Admissions Illegally Obtained (hereinafter, Second Motion to Suppress) (R. I, 1-36) which was argued at an unreported hearing, and subsequently denied (R. I, 137-140). The trial Court likewise denied Appellant's pre-hearing Motion for Use of Special Verdict Form (R. 1-140); Motion to Declare Florida Statutes, §775.082(1) and §921.141 Unconstitutional (R. I, 120-136), (R. I, 140), and Motion to Prohibit Reference to Advisory Role of the Jury (R. I, 140). Appellant's requested "Preliminary Instruction re: Voir Dire About Penalty" was denied on the day of the commencement of the resentencing hearing (R. I, 175-176), as were his objections to the Court's Order allowing the taking of judicial notice as to those matters stated in paragraphs four (4) and five (5) of the State's Notice of Request for Compulsory Judicial Notice (R. I, 177-178).

On March 11, 1991, a resentencing hearing commenced with the selection of a new jury (R. 111, 317-480; R. IV, 481-576), which

was found acceptable to both parties and sworn (R. IV, 577).

Upon completion of preliminary instructions and opening statements of counsel (R. IV, 577-596), the trial Court entertained arguments upon the issues of judicial notice and potential doubling of aggravating circumstances (R. IV, 597-619).

The State then presented evidence in the form of testimony and exhibits in support of its obligation to demonstrate the nature of the crime (R. 11, 581 through R. III, 801); §921.141(1)(1987), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> The State's first witness was Putnam County Sheriff's Department (PCSD) Investigator, David Stout (R. 11, 621), who testified as to the condition of the crime scene, the positioning of the bodies and the circumstances surrounding the eventual apprehension and interrogation of the Appellant, RANDALL SCOTT JONES. Stout's testimony supported the introduction, without ultimate objection, of a videotape of the crime scene, several photographs and other exhibits (R. II, 621 through R. 111, 706).

The State's second witness, PCSD Lt. William Hord primarily testified as to the apprehension of the Defendant in Mississippi and thetaking of type-written statements, which were admitted into evidence, of the Defendant on at least two (2) occasions. Lt. Hord testified from the two (2) different statements and identified the circumstances under which each statement was taken. He related the internal inconsistencies between the statements themselves and compared the initial statement to the one obtained from the codefendant, CHRISTOPHER REESH (R. 111, 707-749).

The co-defendant's testimony was then presented. REESH testified that on July 27, 1987, he and Appellant were at the

Rodman Dam park area target practicing at which time the vehicle they were in became stuck in sand (R. 111, 755). After an attempt to secure aid from a fisherman failed, REESH testified as to the Appellant's words and actions as they related to the securing of the pick-up truck occupied by the sleeping victims herein. REESH described the shooting by Appellant of a 30/30 rifle into the vehicle and the removal of the bodies therefrom and their subsequent disposal in nearby woods. REESH further described his own apprehension, questioning and ultimate plea negotiation and sentence for his role in the crimes he described (R. 111, 753-770).

The medical examiner who conducted an autopsy upon the bodies of the decedents, Dr. Bonosacio T. Floro, was the State's final witness. Floro described the trauma to the bodies and provided opinion evidence concerning the probable trajectory of the bullets, the positioning of the sleeping victims at the time of impact as well as the immediacy of death. A great deal of Dr. Floro's direct and cross-examination was devoted to the issue of whether an injury to a finger on victim Perry's left hand was a defensive wound or whether the injury was sustained during the earlier shooting of victim Brock (**R**. 111, 775-801).

Upon the State announcing rest (R. 111, 801), Appellant presented the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop, a forensic clinical psychologist, who testified as to the character of the accused (R. 111, 801 through R. IV, 921); §921.141(1)(1987), <u>Fla.Stat.</u>, and provided extensive background information in support of nonstatutory mitigation.

Dr. Krop testified to having examined Appellant on four (4)

prior occasions and having reviewed a significant psychiatric intake history which included a family history of parental divorce during Appellant's very early years (R. 111, 826). Krop testified that interviews and intake history information supported the fact that Appellant was allowed to be alone for long periods of time with little or no supervision prior to age five (5) (R. 111, 827). Krop noted that when Appellant was returned to the custody of his father at age five (5), his demeanor was described as "animalistic" According to Krop, Appellant's father and (R. 111, 827). stepmother indicated that Appellant had not been toilet trained, had no table manners or social skills and displayed significant behavioral and interpersonal problems while in their care (R. 111, Krop described as "unusual" the three (3) week in-patient 827). hospitalization of Appellant at age eleven (11) (R. 111, 829). **Krop** further opined that his post-mortem diagnosis of borderline personality disorder was consistent with the final discharge diagnosis of Appellant at the age of twelve (12) (R. 111, 832).

Dr. Krop testified that Appellant was in and out of group homes and private residences during a five (5) year period from 1981 through 1986 (R. 111, 829), but that he managed to graduate from high school and join the military from which he received an honorable discharge under general conditions (R. 111, 830). During his brief military service, Krop noted that Appellant had seen a military psychiatrist four (4) to five (5) times (R. 111, 830).

Krop thereafter testified as to Appellant's mental condition immediately prior to the shootings. Krop advised the jury that several highly stressful events preceding the murders acted in

conjunction with the Defendant's mental disease, contributing to the behavior which brought him before the Court.

First, Krop testified that Appellant's father, who was ill for some time with a heart ailment, died approximately eight (8) months prior to the murders, while Appellant was still in military service (R. 111, 836). Krop further noted that Appellant had planned to be married but that a few weeks prior to the murders Appellant's fiancee's mother committed suicide and his fiancee thereafter broke off the relationship (R. 111, 835). Krop noted that during the same time period, Appellant lost his job at Wal-Mart and was unable to locate substitute employment as of the date of the incident herein (R. III, 837). All of these factors, according to Dr. Krop, were significantly stressful to Appellant (R. 111, 836).

Krop testified that Appellant's psychiatric diagnosis of borderline personality disorder was characterized by difficulty in coping with stress (R. 111, 839), extremely low self-concept and self-esteem (R. 111, 842), hypersensitivity to "perceived" rejection (R. 111, 843), rage-type reactions (R. III, 841) and distorted perception (R. 111, 846). Krop testified that a person carrying Appellant's diagnosis could morally justify committing what otherwise would be perceived as a senseless, violent crime upon strangers (R. 111, 845-847).

Krop testified, however, that Appellant's mental condition did not so "substantially impair" him, nor was his condition so "extreme", as to qualify him for consideration for either statutory mitigating circumstance (R. 111, 850-852). He did, however, identify numerous areas of non-statutory mitigating circumstances

including emotional deprivation and neglectful early environment, ongoing emotional disturbance, acute depression at the time of the offense, as well as Appellant's ability to be rehabilitated as demonstrated by **his ready** acknowledgement of guilt, intelligence level, youth and no significant history of alcohol or drug intake. Krop also described Appellant as a model inmate and not a prison management problem (R. 111, **848-855**).

Upon the conclusion of Dr. Krop's testimony, the Defendant announced rest (R. IV, 921). The State offered no rebuttal testimony (R. IV, 921). After **a** brief charge conference where multiple objections to proposed instructions on aggravating circumstances were lodged by the Defendant (**R**. IV, 933-935), each side presented closing arguments during which time a Motion for Mistrial by the Defendant was made and denied (**R**. IV, **949-950**).

The Court instructed the jury as to the aggravating circumstances applicable to the murder of victims Perry (R. IV, 967-968) and Brock (R. IV, 968-969). Aggravating circumstances common to each victim included Appellant's previous conviction of either a capital felony or a felony involving use or threat of violence (§921.141(5)(b) (1987)), <u>Fla.Stat.</u>, Appellant's commission of the capital felony while in engaged in the commission of a statutorily enumerated offense (§921.141(5)(d) (1987)), <u>Fla.Stat.</u>, and that the homicides were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (§921.141(5)(i) (1987)), <u>Fla.Stat.</u> An additional aggravating factor applicable solely to victim Brock was that the capital felony committed against him was for Appellant's pecuniary

gain (§921.141(5) (f) (1987)), Fla.Stat.

The trial Court instructed the jury upon two (2) mitigating circumstances, to wit: the age of the Defendant at the time of the crime (age 19) (§921.141(6)(g) (1987)), <u>Fla.Stat</u>, and "any other aspect of the Defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense." (R. IV, 969). The jury, upon deliberation, recommended that the Court impose a sentence of death, by a vote of ten (10) to two (2), for the murders of victims Perry and Brock (R. IV, 984-985; R. 11, 226-227).

Appellant filed his Motion for New Sentencing Hearing (R. 11, 238-240; R. V, 997), which was denied (R. 11, 251; R. V, 1003) along with the contemporaneously renewed motion by Appellant's counsel to withdraw (R. II, 251; R. V, 1004).

On May 28, 1991, Appellant was brought before the Court for imposition of sentence pursuant to the jury's advisory recommendation as stated above (R. VII, 996-1036). The trial Court entered its Judgement and Sentence of Death as it related to the murder of Matthew Paul Brock (R. 11, 252-2591, as well as the murder of victim Kelly Lynn Perry (R. II, 260-266).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed herein (R. II, 273).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court, with full knowledge of Appellant's long standing position that his trial counsel was ineffective and suffered from a conflict of interest, consistently denied Appellant the opportunity to present his allegations in a full evidentiary hearing conducted upon proper notice. The trial court denied Appellant **due** process and **a** fair trial by failing to address specific allegations of ineffectiveness which bore directly upon the admissibility of confessions of guilt to law enforcement and the content of his mitigation presentation to the jury. The Court ignored clear demonstrations of animosity between Appellant and his counsel and failed to advise Appellant of his constitutional rights and options pursuant to the criteria set forth in Nelson v. State, 274 \$0.2d 256, **258-259** (Fla. 4th **DCA** 1973), as adopted by this Court in Mardwick v. State, 521 \$0.2d 1071 (Fla. **1988**).

The trial court further erred in denying Appellant an opportunity to establish a factual basis in support of his Second Motion to Suppress Statements and further erred on the substantive issue of the admissibility of those statements under the doctrine announced in Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). These errors resulted in the admission of damaging, otherwise inadmissible statements to law enforcement which were used by both the jury and the Court in determining to recommend, and subsequently impose, respectively, the sentences of death.

The trial court further erred in denying a variety of pretrial motions (R. I, 120-128; 129-133; 134-135; 140) which are realleged

herein for purposes of requesting that the Court reconsider its prior rulings which contributed to the trial court's error.

Fundamental error was further committed by the trial court when it improperly commented upon the testimony of a critical witness for the State of Florida, the co-defendant herein, having treated the witness deferentially and bolstering his creditability in the eyes of the jury. The trial court did not uphold its unique obligation to maintain an appearance of impartiality and clearly prejudiced Appellant's position when it affirmed the correctness of the co-defendant's statements by making reference to a previous State witness's testimony. The error is fundamental and is preserved in the absence of a contemporaneous objection. <u>Ross</u> v. State, **386** So.2d 1191, **1195** (Fla. **1980**).

The trial court further erred in instructing the jury that it could consider as an aggravating circumstance the fact that the capital felony **was** committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification (R. IV, 968), and thereafter basing its own judgments and sentences of death in part thereon. Appellant's crime did not display the heightened state of premeditation necessary for the application of this circumstance, and the unrefuted testimony of Dr. Krop demonstrated that Appellant's mental illness allowed him to view his acts with at least a pretense of moral justification.

The aggravating circumstance which applies when the capital offense was committed for pecuniary gain was likewise inapplicable to the facts of this case in that the initial purpose for the

killings was not the theft of the victim's truck for pecuniary gain, but merely for its use to extricate Appellant's vehicle from the sand. The subsequent taking of the truck after the murders was either an afterthought or merely a means of escape for Appellant. <u>Hill v. State</u>, **549** So.2d 179 (Fla. 1989).

The trial court erred in instructing the jury to consider multiple aggravating circumstances arising out of the same aspect of Appellant's conduct and compounded the error by ultimately imposing its sentences of death through utilization of improper doubling of aggravating circumstances.

This Court's prior ruling in this case specifically found that the aggravating circumstance that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel did not apply. The trial court erred in allowing the State of Florida the opportunity to present highly inflammatory and irrelevant testimony as to the injuries received by victim Perry which had no relation to an admissible statutory aggravating circumstance.

The trial court's denial of Appellant's midhearing Motion for Mistrial due to highly improper prosecutorial comment upon victim impact evidence was reversible error in that the resentencing proceeding herein was governed, at the time, by the dictates of <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>, 107 s.Ct. 2529 (1987).

The trial court further erred in permitting the State of Florida, over objection of counsel, to explore aspects of Appellant's pre-teen delinquent behavior which was not in rebuttal to a mitigating circumstance propounded by the Appellant.

The trial court further erred in refusing to instruct the jury that they should consider the statutory mitigating circumstance of "substantially impaired capacity" despite the fact that Appellant's expert's testimony did not support same in that the overwhelming weight of the expert's testimony supported substantial mental impairment for a period of eight (8) years preceding the offense, as well as at the time of the offense. Stewart v. State, 558 So.24 416 (Fla. 1990).

The trial court finally erred in refusing to instruct the jury as to the existence of multiple non-statutory mitigating circumstances which were clearly identified in the unrefuted testimony of Appellant's expert witness. The Court itself failed to properly identify the non-statutory mitigating circumstances, or assign them due weight.

Each of the errors alone, or taken as a whole, require vacation of the sentences of death imposed by the trial court and a remanding of the cause for a new resentencing evidentiary hearing before **a** different jury. Lucas v. State, **490** So.2d **943** (Fla. 1976).

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW BY FAILING TO CONDUCT A FULL EVIDENTIARY HEARING, UPON PROPER NOTICE, INTO APPELLANT'S ALLEGATIONS OF TRIAL COUNSEL'S CONFLXCT OF INTEREST AND INEFFECTIVENESS AND MAKE REQUIRED INQUIRY.

I.

Prior to this court's opinion in <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, remanding this cause to the trial court for a new evidentiary sentencing hearing, the conflict between Appellant and his court-appointed counsel was already well documented in the record. <u>Id.</u> at 1240. The denial of defense counsel's Motion to Withdraw due to conflict of interest was a point raised in Jones' initial appeal which remained unresolved due to this Court's ruling **as** to other trial errors which necessitated resentencing. <u>Id.</u>

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