FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 16 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By 
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RANDALL SCOTT JONES,
Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,160

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/
CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR, #410519
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/
CROSS-APPELLANT

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

In the **case** sub judice the trial court found this aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the State:

Testimony and statements made by the Defendant and admitted in **evidence** at trial demonstrate that the murders were committed to effect the robbery of Matthew Paul Brock's pickup truck. The value of the truck was in *excess* of four thousand (4,000.00) dollars. The Defendant stole the vehicle after murdering its occupants and was attempting to sell it when apprehended by law enforcement personnel in Mississippi. The Court recognizes that this aggravating factor must be taken in conjunction with the previous factor and the Court has considered these two aggravating circumstances as a single aggravating factor.

(R 254).

This aggravating circumstance was merged with the aggravating circumstance of "committed during a robbery" so even if **it** were stricken, the aggravating circumstance would still be applied. Jones does not contest the murder was committed during a robbery.

In any case, the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. Jones stated he was going to kill the victims so he could use their truck (R 203). After he killed the victims, he took the truck (R 203). After they pulled the vehicle from the sand, **Jones** returned to the crime scene (R 204). Jones then drove the truck to Mississippi where he was arrested, **He** made no statement

indicating it was not his intention to keep the truck. To the contrary, he had lost his job and returned to the Lighthouse home where he had lived for a year and one-half (R 216, 829). The logical inference is that Jones intended to take and keep the truck to leave Palatka since he had just broken up with his girlfriend and lost his job (R 836-37). See Gilliam v. State 582 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1991). The State also presented evidence Jones wanted to sell the truck (R 690). The trial court's finding was supported by competent substantial evidence. See Henry v. State, 586 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 1991); Reichmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991).

POINT 7

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY.

Jones raises three instances of alleged **error**.

1. Instructing the jury they could consider Jones had previously been convicted of a violent felony.

The trial court instructed:

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider as to the murder of Kelli Lynn Perry are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence. First, the defendant has been previously **convicted** of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person. The crime of murder of the first-degree of Matthew Brock is a capital felony. The crimes of robbery, burglary while armed, with assault or shooting a deadly missile into an occupied conveyance are felonies involving the use of violence to another person. * *

The aggravating circumstances that you may consider as to the murder of Matthew Paul **Brock** are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence. First, the defendant has been previously convicted of some other capital offense or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person. The **crime** of first-degree murder against Kelli Lynn Perry is a capital felony. The crimes of burglary while armed, with assault, and shooting or throwing a deadly missile into an occupied conveyance are crimes of violence against another person.

(R 967-68).

Jones claims the instruction regarding **the** burglary with assault was error. Defense counsel objected to giving the instruction because the two murders were simultaneous but not on

the basis now presented, so the issue is waived. Henry v. State, 586 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 1991); Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985). Although it is improper to utilize a contemporaneous felony as an aggravating circumstance when that felony is committed upon **the** same person that was murdered, Schafer v. State, 537 So.2d 988, 991 (Fla. 1989), it is not error to apply this aggravating circumstance when there are two victims. Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314, 1317 (Fla. 1987). Even if the trial court shouldn't have instructed that the burglary with assault was a prior violent felony, it was harmless since the contemporaneous capital felony (the murder of both **Bock** and **Perry**) supplied the basis for this aggravating circumstance. See, Gaskin v. State, 16 F.L.W. S672 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1991); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991); Tafero v. State, 561 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1990); Cook v. State, 542 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1989); LeCroy v. State, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1989).

2. Doubling the aggravating circumstance of "pecuniary gain" and "committed during a robbery."

Jones claims that the trial court erred in instructing the jury they *may* consider both pecuniary gain and committed during a robbery (R 968-69). Defense counsel **objected** (R 935). **The trial judge merged **the** robbery and pecuniary **gain** aggravating circumstance"** (R 253-54). It was not error to instruct that the jury *may* consider either or both aggravating circumstance. Valle

³ This aggravator was applied only to victim **Brock**.

v. State, 581 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1991); Hayes v. State, 581 So.2d 121 (Fla. 1991); Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985).

3. Shooting into a vehicle as an aggravating circumstance

Jones claims defense counsel objected to the use of "shooting into an occupied vehicle" for purposes of aggravation. The record cite provided shows that the only objection made was to using the contemporaneous capital felony as aggravation (R 1004-1007). This issue is waived. See, Henry, Tillman, supra. The issue has no merit for the reasons stated in section 1 herein.

POINT 8

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN
PERMITTING THE STATE TO PRESENT
TESTIMONY REGARDING A DEFENSIVE WOUND.

Jones claims the trial court erred in allowing **the** state to permit testimony regarding a defensive wound. There was no objection to this testimony which consisted of two sentences (R 779), a question regarding trajectory (R 782), and a question regarding stippling (R 784). The issue waived. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). Defense counsel also asked questions regarding **the** wound (R 788, 791-95).

In Jones v. State., 569 So.2d 1234, 1238 (Fla. 1990), this court held that the trial court erred in giving the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel since the record reflected no evidentiary support for this instruction. Resentencing proceedings are completely new proceedings. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 693 (Fla. 1990). Although the state was precluded from arguing the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel based on the sexual battery, **this** did not preclude them from trying to establish that aggravating circumstance by showing victim Perry was aware of Brock's death and tried to protect herself from a similar demise. Fear **and** emotional strain have long been recognized as contributing to the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel. Hitchcock, supra at 693. The prosecutor told the trial judge he wanted to try to establish the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel through testimony that victim Perry had a defensive wound (R 504). The trial. judge stated:

I think you have the right to try to present evidence, argue any aggravators **provided by** statute. The fact that it didn't get done sufficiently for the supreme **court** the last time, does not preclude, in my judgment, your attempting to do it this time.

(R 505).

This is a correct statement of the law. As Jones concedes, the jury was not instructed on heinous, atrocious and cruel, nor did the trial court find this aggravating circumstance was **established**, so **error, if any**, was harmless, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Furthermore, the testimony was **relevant** to the trajectory and stippling questions so would have been admissible under the court's wide discretion. See, Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1988). Jones has failed to show the trial court abused its discretion, Gaskin v. State, 16 F.L.W. S672 (Fla. Dec. 5, 1991).

POINT 9

THE TRIAL COURT DID **NOT** ERR IN DENYING
THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL.

Jones claims the prosecutor's statement for the jury to think about **the** effect the five seconds the murder took had on Chris Reesh's life was grounds for a mistrial. Defense counsel objected on the ground that the state was appealing **for** sympathy and asking the jury to consider the effect of the homicides on a third person who had **no** connection to the case. This does not **appear** to be an objection based on victim impact so any Booth⁴ error is waived. Reichmann v. State, 581 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1991); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). Even if it were a Booth objection, that case has been refined by Payne v. Tennessee, ___ U.S. 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991). Further, **Chris Reesh** was not a victim or related in any way to the victims. In the cases **cited** by **Jones**, this court did not find reversible error. Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1985); Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984); Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1989).

Prosecutorial error alone **does** not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction unless the errors involved are so basic to a fair trial they **can** never be treated as harmless, State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984); Rhodes, supra at 1203; Bertolotti, supra at 133. The trial court did not abuse its

⁴ See, Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987).

discretion in denying the motion for mistrial. Sireci v. State,
587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991).

POINT 10

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE DR. KROP REGARDING JONES RECORDS WHICH WERE USED IN ARRIVING AT A DIAGNOSIS.

Defense counsel advised the court and prosecutor he was not seeking the statutory mitigating circumstance "no previous significant criminal history" and would think the defendant's criminal history was no longer relevant (R 858). The prosecutor advised the court he had information that Jones was hospitalized at age eleven or twelve as having some degree of depression. At that time he tried to burn his parents' house down (R 858). Three or four weeks later Jones was back in the hospital with depression after he was caught chasing a child with a hatchet (R 859). The court advised counsel:

The only thing I can tell you, counsel is, that the witness has testified that he had all these medical records and he's based a lot of his opinions on them. Mr. Pearl knows about it. If you think you need to get into it, I don't see any real problem with it.

MR. WHITSON: Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT: I mean, legally, I don't see any real problem with it and you're the strategist in the case, so I don't have any business interfering your strategy.

MR. WHITSON: Such as it is.

MR. PEARL: Who knows, hopefully, we might skirt even close to a mistrial based on prosecutorial misconduct. I don't know where we're going to go with this.

THE COURT: That's the prosecutor's problem, isn't it?

MR. PEARL: Yes sir.

(R 859). The State does not consider this an objection to the testimony and the issue is waived. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). The record shows that the defense presented testimony from Dr. Krop that he had considered Jones juvenile, psychological and psychiatric history (R 817-820). Dr. Krop testified Jones had mood swings, primarily depression, throughout his **life** and that evaluations since age eleven showed depression (R 822). When Jones was eleven he was hospitalized for three weeks, then one month later was hospitalized again (R 828-29). Dr. Krop diagnosed Jones as having borderline personality disorder (R 832). On cross-examination the State questioned Dr. Krop about a prior diagnosis that indicated Jones had an antisocial personality disorder (R 869). The prosecutor asked questions regarding Jones background and the materials **the** witness had reviewed (R 872-77). Dr. Krop denied the fact there were numerous references in the records of fights and physical altercations (R 878). It was at this point the prosecutor asked Dr. Krop whether the records showed Jones threatened a child with a hatchet and tried to burn his parents' house down.

Although Jones claims the State cross-examined Dr. Krop "extensively" about the house-burning and hatchet-chasing incidents, the record shows the following:

Q. In your review of the records concerning Mr. Jones, isn't it a fact, Dr. Krop, that there were numerous references to fights and physical altercations that Mr. Jones would get into?

A. There are references, not necessarily for fighting. There were references to lying, and there were references to stealing. I don't recall a whole lot of references to fighting.

Q. Well, wasn't one of his hospitalizations as a result of his parents' concern for him having chased one of his neighbor kids, at a Boy Scout camp, with a hatchet?

A. According to the records, there was an accusation made at a Boy Scout camp, that he had threatened one of his **peers** with a hatchet. I was not aware that there was actually a fight involved.

Q. Now, on the first hospitalization, Dr. **Ksop** isn't it a fact that the parents **were** concerned about his behavior in striking the house upon fire while they were in it, asleep one night?

A. That's true,

(R 878-79). **These** was no contemporaneous objection and the issue is waived. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); Bertolotti, supra.

The cross-examination was proper since Dr. Krop had testified regarding **Jones'** mental history and had diagnosed him as having a borderline personality disorder. The state was entitled to explore **that** diagnosis, which is exactly what the prosecutor was doing at the time of the alleged error. A few sentences later, Dr. Krop was **asked** to examine the diagnostic criteria of antisocial behavior in the DSM-III-R (R 881). The diagnostic criteria included "often initiated physical fights," "used a **weapon in more** than one fight," and "engage in fire

setting" (R 882). The questions asked were proper cross-examination, particularly since the defense opened the door with Dr. Krop's testimony regarding Jones' background. See Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, 288 (Fla. 1991). Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1985); McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145, 1152 (Fla. 1980); Hernandez v. State, 569 So.2d 857 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Ashcraft v. State, 465 So.2d 1374, 1375 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Error, if any, was harmless. The information regarding Jones setting his parents' bedroom on fire was contained in Jones' statement which was read to the jury prior to Dr. Krop's testimony (R 205). The hatchet incident was no more prejudicial than the other incidents of childhood behavior about which Dr. Krop testified.

POINT 11

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT AND FAILING TO FIND "SUBSTANTIALLY IMPAIRED CAPACITY" WHERE THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THIS MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Jones concedes that his own expert, Dr. Krop, testified he was not substantially impaired. (R 850-52) but claims the trial judge should have instructed on this statutory mitigating circumstance and should have weighed this mitigating circumstance in imposing sentence.

At the charge conference, **defense** counsel requested an instruction on the "extreme emotional disturbance" statutory mitigator but not on "substantially impaired capacity" and this issue is waived (R 926-28). Henry v. State, 580 So.2d 1033 n.6 (Fla. 1991); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987). Defense counsel did not object to the instructions before the jury retired, **so** this issue **may** not now be raised. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(d)⁵.

Although Jones claims there was evidence presented on this statutory mitigating circumstance, Dr. Krop specifically stated Jones was not substantially impaired (R 850). In Stewart v. State, **558** So.2d 416, 420 (Fla. 1990) this court found that there was no evidence presented to support a standard instruction on extreme disturbance, but there was testimony to support a standard instruction on impaired capacity. Here, the testimony

⁵ The court inquired whether there were any objections other than those previously noted (R 983). The only instruction previously requested by the defense was on "extreme mental or emotional disturbance" (R 926-28). The trial court's failure to instruct on "extreme emotional disturbance" is not raised on appeal.

negated the existence of the "substantially impaired capacity" and Jones falls into the first category in Stewart - that of no evidence to support the instruction, particularly when one was not requested.

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